68178-8

68178-8

No. 681788 -I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

WASHINGTON FEDERAL SAVINGS & LOAN ASSOCIATION,

Respondent/Plaintiff,

v.

MARK A. McNAUGHTON and MARNA L. McNAUGHTON, husband and wife, individually and the marital community comprised thereof,

Appellants/Defendants.

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Christopher I. Brain (WSBA #5054) Mary B. Reiten (WSBA #33623) TOUSLEY BRAIN STEPHENS PLLC 1700 Seventh Avenue, Suite 2200 Seattle, Washington 98101 206.682.5600	2013 MAY -6 PM 1:53	COURT OF APPEALS DIV STATE OF WASHINGTON
		\$ t

Attorneys for Appellants/Defendants

ORIGINAL

I. INTRODUCTION

On September 18, 2009, Respondent Washington Federal Savings & Loan Association's ("WaFed") predecessor-in-interest, Horizon Bank ("Horizon"), non-judicially foreclosed on two properties in Snohomish County owned by The McNaughton Group, LLC ("TMG") and commonly referred to as the "Sommerwood Property" and the "King's Corner Property" (collectively, the "Property"). Horizon was the successful bidder at the trustee's sale, with a credit bid of \$6 million. The principal due on the note at the time of the foreclosure was \$11.7 million.

Appellants Mark and Marna McNaughton (collectively, the "McNaughtons") guarantied the note, and WaFed now seeks a deficiency judgment against them of \$5.7 million plus interest and fees. WaFed seeks to prove that Horizon's credit bid at the trustee's sale of \$6 million represents the "fair value" of the property. For two reasons, one legal and one factual, WaFed's motion should have been denied.

First, as a legal matter, WaFed's appraisers used the wrong definition of "fair value." Thus, as a matter of law, WaFed failed to carry its burden of proof on summary judgment. WaFed's appraisers analyzed <u>market</u> value, not <u>fair</u> value. A fair value determination is premised on the absence of a distressed market and assumes that neither buyer nor seller is acting under duress. Here, even though WaFed's appraiser points out that the economic conditions under which the trustee's sale took place were distressed, he made no adjustments to account for this condition.

Second, as a factual matter, disputed issues of material fact exist regarding the value of the Property. Indeed, Horizon's appraiser specifically admits that he failed to appraise <u>all</u> the property. He states that he did NOT value the sewer lift station servicing the Property and recommended that the bank hire an expert to do so. Indeed, documents produced by WaFed indicate that Horizon internally valued the lift station at approximately \$3 million <u>in addition</u> to the market value of the Property. Despite these facts putting the ultimate issue of value into dispute, the trial court granted summary judgment resolving the factual dispute in WaFed's favor, rather than indulging every inference in favor of the non-moving party, the McNaughtons.

Before granting summary judgment, the trial court should have insisted on the application of the correct legal standard for reaching "fair value." Even assuming that the trial court applied the correct definition of "fair value," the fact that the appraisal was incomplete by its own terms should have prevented summary judgment. In short, WaFed failed to carry its initial burden of proof.

II. STATEMENT OF FACTS

The McNaughtons do not dispute the facts surrounding the execution of the note or the guaranties. See CR 689-92 & 694-714 (McKenzie Decl. & Exhs.); see also CR 36-40 (McNaughton Decl.) ¶¶ 2-9. Neither do they dispute that TMG defaulted on the note. The McNaughtons do, however, dispute WaFed's assertion that \$6 million represents the fair value of the Property at the time of the foreclosure sale. Judgment should not have been entered against the McNaughtons without (1) the appropriate legal definition of "fair value" applied; and (2) a trial on the merits to resolve disputed issues of material fact.

A. The Appraisals Relied on by WaFed do not Reflect Fair Value as Defined by RCW 61.24.005(6)

WaFed relies on three appraisals (two from 2009, one from 2010) and its subsequent sale of the property in 2011 to support its assertion that \$6 million represents fair value. These appraisals and sale do not use the appropriate legal definition of "fair value."

1. None of the Appraisals Analyze Fair Value

RCW § 61.24.005(6) defines "fair value" as

[T]he value of the property encumbered by a deed of trust that is sold pursuant to a trustee's sale. This value shall be determined by the court or other appropriate adjudicator by reference to the most probable price, as of the date of the trustee's sale, which would be paid in cash or other immediately available funds, after deduction of prior liens and encumbrances with interest to the date of the trustee's sale, for which the property would sell on such date after reasonable exposure in the market under conditions requisite to a fair sale, with the buyer and seller each acting prudently, knowledgably, and for self-interest, <u>and</u> <u>assuming that neither is under duress</u>. (Emphasis added).

Note that the definition of "fair value" requires that neither party

be "under duress." Compare the statutory definition of "fair value" to

WaFed's appraiser's definition of "market value" as used in their

appraisals:

[T]he most probable price that a property should bring in a competitive and open market under all conditions requisite to a fair sale, the buyer and seller, each acting prudently, and knowledgeably, <u>and</u> <u>assuming the price is not affected by unique</u> <u>stimulus</u>. Implicit in this definition is the consummation of a sale as of a specified date and the passing of title from seller to buyer under conditions whereby:

1. Buyer and seller are typically motivated.

2. Bother parties are well informed or well advised, and both acting in what they consider their own best interest

3. A reasonable time is allowed for exposure in the open market

4. Payment is made in terms of cash in US dollars or in terms of financial arrangements comparable thereto

5. The price represents the normal consideration for the property sold unaffected by special or creative financing or sales concessions granted by anyone associated with the sale.

CR 390-91, 505-06, 620-21 (emphasis added). Notably absent from these three identical definitions is the requirement that neither party be under duress. Indeed, the definition relied on by WaFed's appraisers assumes "the price is not affected by unique stimulus." And in none of the appraisals is either "fair value" or RCW § 61.24.005(6) even mentioned. <u>See generally</u> CR 367-688 (Bryan Decl. & Exhs. A-C).

"Market value" and statutory "fair value" are not synonymous, as the McNaughtons' expert, Anthony Gibbons, testified at his deposition. CR 267-68 (Deposition of Anthony Gibbons dated November 3, 2011 ("Gibbons Dep.") at 49:7-50:14). Mr. Gibbons has been appraising properties since 1982. CR 224-25 (<u>Id.</u> at 6:15-7:3). He has held an MAI designation since 1988 and also holds a Washington state appraisal license. CR 254 & 256 (Id. at 36:13-22, 38:5-17).

Mr. Gibbons testified: "As a general concept, if I picked up an appraisal and the appraiser says we have estimated the fair value of the property, (sic) that would tell me they've done something differently than market value because the term we use is market value." CR 267-68 (<u>Id.</u> at 49:15-19). "The term 'fair value' is in my experience typically reserved for issues associated with a foreclosure or a trustee's sale and [they] (<u>sic</u>) are different – and so it's kind of reserved for that use." CR 274 (<u>Id.</u> at 56:14-18). Fair value is generally considered "an evaluation of the property under normal conditions." CR 276-77 (<u>Id.</u> at 58:24-59:1). That is, the application of a fair value analysis implies that at least one of the parties is under duress: "[T]he very nature of the term as it's being applied in a situation where almost by definition there's duress, I mean that's when the term gets applied because, ..., a trustee's sale suggests that a property is being lost and there's a level of duress associated with that event..." CR 277 (<u>Id.</u> at 59:2-12).

Hence, not only would one define the current market value of the property to determine "fair value," one would also have to analyze <u>normal</u> market conditions. That is, should a distressed real estate market exist – such as the Great Recession in which the Puget Sound found itself in September 2009 – an appraiser would have to take their analysis one step further and analyze how a normal (i.e. non-distressed) real estate market would value the same property. The result would equal "fair value." CR

278-79 (<u>Id.</u> at 60:18-61:2). In contrast, a market value analysis, such as WaFed's, only analyzes <u>current</u> economic conditions, regardless of the existence of a distressed real estate market. WaFed, and the trial court, applied the wrong definition – ignoring the statutory definition for one of WaFed's choosing.

2. Each of WaFed's Appraisals Reflect a Distressed Market, Contradicting the Statutory Definition

WaFed's market value analysis does not adjust for the distressed economic conditions under which buyers and sellers have been operating since at least 2008. Indeed, WaFed's appraiser acknowledges that "[t]his opinion emphasizes how rapidly the market change[d] (sic) in the late 3rd and early 4th Quarters of 2008 with the onset of the credit crisis." CR 392, 507. And in analyzing the "Highest and Best Use" of Sommerwood in April 2009, the appraiser notes:

> In terms of financial feasibility, as a vacant site, this is generally inferred from the pricing of comparable sites in the market. The market is currently in a state of flux, with wide variations in pricing of preliminary plats and finished lots are starting to be sold at significant discounts by builders and developers under financial duress. As such, feasibility considerations would need to take into account the current market conditions and appropriate compensation for risk.

CR 409 (emphasis added).

In other words, as the market worsens, the risk of taking on vacant property for the purposes of development increases, putting downward pressure on prices. And the injection into the process of banks that liquidate inventory obtained through foreclosure sales, has forced the price of land continually downward as developers and builders must compete with these fire sale prices.

The comparable sales chosen by the appraiser for Sommerwood in 2009 also reflect the market's distress. For example, comparable sale four had been under contract for two years, but the sale fell through because of changing market conditions. CR 425. Comparable sale 12 was back on the market as finished lots at a lower price point than it sold for at the preliminary plat stage. <u>Id.</u> And the residual analysis performed by the appraiser indicates market distress: "While these low price points are not representative of healthy market transactions, the increasing frequency of these transactions suggest that a lower price threshold is in the future." CR 426.

WaFed's appraisals contain repeated references to the distressed Puget Sound economy, precisely demonstrating that the analysis conducted was a market analysis, not a fair value analysis as is required for determining a deficiency under RCW 61.24.100(5). For example, the appraisals point out:

• "Over the past year, the Puget Sound economy has followed the national economic decline that started during the 2006-2007 period." CR 293, 508, 623.

 "In conjunction with the decline in the median home price, marketing periods increased and the number of sales declined." CR 393.

• "[W]ith a number of reports of lots being taken back by the lenders on development loans and sold at significant discounts from the prices of the past few years, there is likely to be a further period of price fluctuations." CR 397.

• "Taken all together, the current inventory and pipeline indicates approximately 6 to 8 years of supply. This suggests a protracted period of adjustment in the subject's market with significant price declines projected as lot developers become more competitive <u>or banks repossess properties</u> <u>and are forced to liquidate</u>." CR 399, 515 (emphasis added).

• "The current oversupply is exerting strong downward pressure on the price for finished lots. There is further downward pressure on pricing as a result of falling prices of finished houses in the market as well." CR 513, 628.

"There are other cases of short sales of finished lots at prices

similar to the prices for land at preliminary plat 2 to 3 years ago.

Situations like this are becoming more frequent in the market and are

eroding the price thresholds on existing inventory because inevitably

finished housing will be constructed on these lots to compete with other

new construction." CR 515.

• Finally, a May 29, 2009 review of the April 24, 2009 appraisal

performed by Rick W. Tunnell & Assoc., LLC for Horizon is much more

explicit and provides the following caution regarding the economy:

The recent events of the past year have had profound affects (sic) on the national and local economies and commenced with the sub-prime market implosion in June of 2007, followed by a series of major brokerage house failures, the collapse of Countrywide Mortgage and subsequent failure of Indy Mac Bank. In September 2008, secondary mortgage giants FHLMC and FNMA essentially failed and were rescued by the government with subsequent billions of dollars allocated to provide for the purchase of bad mortgager debts, capital (TARP money) to banks, "bailouts" to AIG and others, and finally to the most recent and continued advances to the big three US Automakers. In mid March the Federal Reserve announced plans to further increase the government's role in halting the

recession buy (sic) several bold moves that focused on buy Treasury Securities, toxic assets, etc.

Where this will end is anyone's guess as the country is in uncharted territory but it does remain clear that the residential markets in particular are subject to potential and additional deterioration while the commercial component is also subject to over-building in certain geographic areas and product types.

CR 325.

. . .

All of these observations parallel those made by Mr. Gibbons at his

deposition as to the difference between "market value" and "fair value"

analyses.¹ Yes despite recognizing these distressed market conditions,

WaFed's appraisers make no adjustments for "duress" as required by the

"fair value" definition of RCW 61.24.005(6).

B. WaFed's Appraisals Specifically Exclude the Value of the Sewer Lift Station Rendering the Valuations Incomplete

Not only do the appraisals relied on by WaFed fail to evaluate the

Property's fair value, they also fail to value the sewer lift station that

¹ Mr. Gibbons testified that, for example, unusually high unemployment for a considerable period of time (as was the case in 2009) is not normal. Nor is the sale of half-completed development projects (also as happened in 2009). Hence, the normal economic conditions under which fair value is assessed may be expressed as a negative by recognizing that current economic conditions are not normal (i.e. distressed), and neither were the economic conditions that existed in September 2009 when the trustee's sale took place. CR 272 (Gibbons Dep. at 54:1-24).

benefits the Property. CR 381. In both 2009 and 2010, the appraiser

specifically pointed out, as an "extraordinary assumption," that the value

of the sewer lift station to the Property was not included in the appraisal:

Extraordinary Assumptions: The subject is improved with a sewer lift station that, according to the owner, cost \$2 million to install and was intended to serve the development of multiple plats in the immediate market area. This appraisal does not attempt to establish the value of this lift station beyond recognizing the service that it provides to the plat that is the subject of this appraisal. We recommend that the Client employ experts to establish the contributory value of this structure for properties that are located in the immediate area and would benefit from service provided by this station.

CR 381, 610 (emphasis added).

And again in the body of the appraisal the appraiser states:

There is also a sewer lift station that has been installed on the subject. Reportedly this station cost \$2,000,000 to install and was proposed to serve multiple plats. The appraisers are not experts with regard to the value that this piece of infrastructure represents and we recommend that experts are consulted to determine the value for not only the subject but for other nearby plats via latecomer fees, etc.

CR 405, 635 (emphasis added). WaFed has no appraisal that addressed

the value of the lift station to the Property. CR 217 (¶9).

Moreover, internal documents of Horizon (WaFed's predecessor-

in-interest) produced by WaFed demonstrate a material dispute regarding

the Property's value. These documents show that Horizon believed the lift

station had a \$3 million value in addition to the appraised value of the

Property. Credit memoranda dated August 17, August 28, and September

23, 2009 all provide the substantially the same estimate of value:

[Resource Transition Consultants, LLC] has had various conversations with potential purchasers for the Sommerwood and King's Corners parcels and has advised management that a potential purchaser maybe (*sic*) willing to pay \$3,000,000 for the value of the lift station.

...

Management believes the lift station adds additional value to the property and based on feedback from RTC, the cost estimate to construct a lift station and McNaughton's marketing material has estimated the value of the sewer lift station to be \$3,000,000. Below is a table detailing the property valuation:

Sommerwood Property Valuation

Sommerwood Parcel appraisal(1)	\$4,115,000
Kings Corner, Phase II Parcel appraisal(1)	\$930,000
Sewer Lift Station(2)	\$3,000,000
Less adjustments for legal and miscellaneous expenses:	

Legal	\$50,000
Miscellaneous	\$10,000

Total Valuation

\$7,985,000

CR 349-54 (emphasis added). These documents alone demonstrate a disputed issue of material fact regarding the Property's fair value.

Moreover, Horizon personnel requested permission to bid up to \$7,985,000 at the trustee's sale. CR 356. On September 16, 2009, an email was sent in response to the question of what the bank should bid at the trustee's sale. In response, an outside consultant to Horizon stated: "We would suggest that the bank consider an amount somewhere around \$6MM ... In addition, we would suggest that bank be prepared to ere. t (sic) at auction (in case someone bids) up to your impaired book balance (\$7.9M) or to whatever number you are comfortable with...." CR 358-59.

This evidence is the only documentary evidence produced by WaFed that indicates how Horizon arrived at its \$6 million credit bid for the Property. The correspondence reflects Horizon's belief that the "impaired book balance" of \$7.9 million equated with the Property's <u>market</u> value – far in excess of the \$6 million credit bit made at the trustee's sale. Despite WaFed's appraiser's admission that the appraisals are incomplete, and despite internal memorandum demonstrating a higher <u>market</u> value than what was bid at the trustee's sale, the trial court ruled in WaFed's favor. To do so, the trial court must necessarily have resolved these conflicts in the evidence to find that the sewer lift station added no value to the Property, and that Horizon's internal valuations had no merit. The trial court should not have resolved these conflicts on summary judgment.

C. The McNaughtons Presented Sufficient Conflicting Evidence of Value to Preclude Summary Judgment

The 2009 appraisal for Sommerwood relied on by WaFed cites as comparable sales five properties listed for sale (not sold) in April 2009, six sales that occurred three years before in 2006, and two sales occurring in 2007. CR 411. Yet the appraisal fails to identify as a comparable a September 2008 sale located within one-half mile of the Property.

On September 12, 2008, the McNaughtons, through a related entity, Bear Creek Highlands, LLC, sold an approximately 30-acre property to the Everett School District (the "District"). CR 30-40 (¶9). The Bear Creek Highlands property, like Sommerwood, at the time of the sale was undeveloped land with preliminary plat approval for development as a residential subdivision (approximately 206 lots). <u>Id.</u> The property was sold to the District for \$22,760,000 (the price was supported by an appraisal prepared for the District before closing) in September 2008, just eight months before the April 2009 appraisal. <u>Id.</u> This purchase price translates to approximately \$110,500 per unimproved lot, a substantially higher value than the \$42,000 per lot value assigned to Sommerwood by the April 2009 appraisal. <u>Id.</u>

WaFed's appraiser does not identify the sale of Bear Creek Highlands in the April 2009 appraisal as a comparable, unimproved, vacant land sale even though the Bear Creek Highlands' sale is significantly more recent than the other comparable sales cited in the appraisals. The failure to identify this comparable sale raises credibility issues as to the accuracy of the 2009 Sommerwood appraisal and its conclusion of value. Further, it contradicts WaFed's valuation evidence that Horizon's credit bid, in fact, reflects the fair value of the Property, again raising an issue of material fact that precludes summary judgment.

D. Appraisals of Comparable Properties Prepared for Other Lenders Support a Value of the Property Substantially Higher Than Either the 2009 Appraisals or Horizon's Credit Bid.

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