No. 681788-I

DIVISION I, COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

WASHINGTON FEDERAL SAVINGS & LOAN ASSOCIATION, a federal association,

Plaintiff-Respondent

v.

MARK A. McNAUGHTON and MARNA L. McNAUGHTON, husband and wife, and the marital community comprised thereof,

Defendants-Appellants

ON APPEAL FROM SNOHOMISH COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT (Hon. Thomas J. Wynne) BRIEF OF RESPONDENT Gregory R. Fox WSBA No. 30559 Ryan P. McBride WSBA No. 33280

> Attorneys for Respondent Washington Federal

LANE POWELL PC 1420 Fifth Avenue, Suite 4100 Seattle, Washington 98101-2338 Telephone: 206.223.7000 Facsimile: 206.223.7107

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

In the face of Washington Federal's showing, to survive summary judgment the McNaughtons had to "make a showing sufficient to establish the existence of an element essential to that party's case, and on which that party will bear the burden of proof at trial." *Young*, 112 Wn.2d at 225.

They couldn't and didn't. Ignoring the burden of proof, the McNaughtons blithely argued that they "need not provide an appraisal of their own or prove the fair value of the Property." CP 30. While they did not need to *prove* fair value on summary judgment, they did need to *present evidence* "to establish the fair value of the property," RCW 61.24.042, and they failed to do so. No where did the McNaughtons once identify the alleged "fair value." CP 15-35. Their brief on appeal is similarly devoid of any such reference. Amazingly, the McNaughtons still did not ask their expert Gibbons to analyze "fair value" or prepare his long-promised appraisal—even though they received a CR 56(f) continuance for that very purpose. They provided no report or new declaration from Gibbons whatsoever.

Rather, as they do on appeal, the McNaughtons simply challenged Washington Federal's appraisals and the sale price, arguing that they may not reflect the "fair value" of the properties. But the McNaughtons cannot create a genuine issue of fact by attacking Washington Federal's evidence on an issue for which it had no burden of proof. Washington Federal's only burden was to prove liability and the amount of the deficiency, which it undisputedly did. To reduce that deficiency, it was the McNaughtons' burden to prove the \$6 million sale price was less than "fair value" and, if so, by how much. Without an iota of evidence to show what the alleged "fair value" was, much less that it was greater than the sale price, the court had to grant Washington Federal's motion. *Young*, 112 Wn.2d at 225 (court must grant summary judgment where there is "a complete failure of proof concerning an essential element of the nonmoving party's case.").

The closest the McNaughtons come to identifying an alleged "fair value" is back-of-the-napkin math based on two unrelated appraisals; they argue that if the per-lot value of the Sommerwood and King's Corner Properties was the same as the per-lot value used in these appraisals, then the properties' value was "potentially" higher than \$6 million. Opening Br. at 17-18, 29. It's pure speculation. The appraisals concern *different* land, valued by a *different* appraiser, working for a *different* bank, on *different* dates. There is no evidence that these appraisals are relevant to the value of Sommerwood and King's Corner: the McNaughtons' expert had no opinion, nor did Mark McNaughton testify on the issue; he simply attached the unauthenticated and hearsay appraisals to his declaration. CP 40-41 (McNaughton Decl.), ¶¶ 10-11; CP 45-156. Indeed, even though an owner may give lay opinion on the value of his or her own property, *Port of Seattle v. Equitable Capital Group, Inc.*, 127 Wn.2d 202, 211-12, 898 P.2d 275 (1995), the McNaughtons never even bothered to offer any self-

serving opinion on "fair value" (or market value).³ This Court can and should affirm based solely on the failure of proof regarding "fair value."

C. There Is No Genuine Issue Of Material Fact That The "Fair Value" Of The Property Was Less Than \$6 Million.

The McNaughtons' inability to present evidence regarding the "fair value" of the Sommerwood and King's Corner Properties renders their other arguments on appeal irrelevant. Simply put, it doesn't matter whether Washington Federal used the wrong definition of "fair value" or should have included the value of the sewer facilities; even if the McNaughtons were right on both counts, they made no effort to show that these alleged flaws resulted in a sale price that was less than "fair value," as was their burden. The McNaughtons' arguments are without merit in any event. Even if the Court considers these issues, it must conclude that there are no genuine issues of fact to preclude summary judgment.

³ This Court can similarly reject the McNaughtons' suggestion that the 2009 appraisal was flawed because it did not consider the price the McNaughtons allegedly received for the sale of yet-another unrelated property. Opening Br. at 15-16. Here too, there is no evidence linking the price of this property to the "fair value" of the Sommerwood or King's Corner Properties. Mark McNaughton merely recites the alleged sale price in his declaration, and the McNaughtons' expert testified that he did not know if it was a proper comparable. CP 39-40 (McNaughton Decl.), ¶ 9; CP 281-82 (Gibbons Depo at 63-64). In fact, the only evidence on the issue was submitted by Washington Federal, whose expert appraiser testified that the sale <u>was not</u> a valid comparable because, unlike the Sommerwood and King's Corner Properties, the property at issue was not intended for residential development. CP 5 (Bryan Decl.), ¶ 5.

1. "Fair Value" Under RCW 61.24.005(6) Is Not The Same As "Upset Price;" The \$6 Million Washington Federal Paid For The Property At The Trustee's Sale Was Far More Than The Property's "Fair Value."

The McNaughtons' primary contention is that the \$6 million sale price for the Sommerwood and King's Corner Properties may not reflect "fair value" because it was based on a market value appraisal that took into account the distressed economic conditions in the real estate market present at the time of the trustee's sale. Opening Br. at 3-11, 20-27. In essence, the McNaughtons ask the Court to construe RCW 61.24.005(6), which defines "fair value" in the context of non-judicial foreclosures, to mean the same thing as "upset price" described in RCW 61.12.060, which applies in the context of judicial foreclosures. *Id.* They claim that, if "fair value" is viewed as an "upset price," then Washington Federal would have valued the properties higher for purposes of the trustee's sale—although, as discussed above, neither the McNaughtons nor their expert made any effort to identify what that alleged correct "fair value" would have been.

The McNaughtons' effort to link the concept of "fair value" and "upset price" defies the plain meaning of the statutes. The legislature elected *not* to equate "fair value" with "upset price." Judicial discretion to set an "upset price" is exclusive to the *judicial* foreclosure process set forth in RCW 61.12 *et seq. See* RCW 61.12.060. In contrast, the concept of "fair value," as used in RCW 61.24.100(5) and defined in RCW 61.24.005(6), is exclusive to the *non-judicial* foreclosure process set forth in RCW 61.24 *et seq. See Thompson v. Smith*, 58 Wn. App. 361, 365, 793 P.2d 449 (1990) (in non-judicial foreclosures, debtors "relinquished a right ... to a judicially imposed upset price"). Notably, the legislature did not incorporate the concept of "upset price" in RCW 61.24 *et seq.* It did just the opposite: "This section is *in lieu of any right* any guarantor would otherwise have *to establish an upset price* pursuant to RCW 61.12.060 prior to a trustee's sale." RCW 61.24.100(5) (emphasis added). The McNaughtons' extended discussion of "upset price" is wholly inapposite.

The legislature also used different language when defining "upset price" and "fair value," and the latter does not support the McNaughtons' claim that a court is required to ignore current market conditions when valuing the property. The *judicial* foreclosure statute expressly permits courts, when setting an "upset price," to "take judicial notice of economic conditions" RCW 61.12.060. This unique statutory language has been construed to give a court discretion in limited circumstances to consider "the state of the economy and local economic conditions," and to fix a minimum "upset price" based on "normal" economic conditions. *Nat'l Bank of Wash. v. Equity Investors*, 81 Wn.2d 886, 926, 506 P.2d 20 (1973). The McNaughtons argue that Washington Federal's appraisals and/or the sale price erroneously failed to follow this inapposite "upset price" convention of valuing property based on "normal" conditions.

Unlike RCW 61.12.060's description of "upset price," however, RCW 61.24.005(6)'s definition of "fair value" contains no reference to "economic conditions." Nor can the McNaughtons identify any language in RCW 61.24.005(6) that would allow a court to value the property with reference to "normal" or ideal economic conditions. On the contrary, the statute unambiguously requires a court to determine "fair value" based on actual market conditions existing "as of the date of the trustee's sale":

This value shall be determined by the court or other appropriate adjudicator by reference to the most probable price, as of the date of the trustee's sale, which would be paid in cash or other immediately available funds, after deduction of prior liens and encumbrances with interest to the date of the trustee's sale, for which the property would sell on such date after reasonable exposure in the market under conditions requisite to a fair sale, with the buyer and seller each acting prudently, knowledgeably, and for selfinterest, and assuming that neither is under duress.

RCW 61.24.005(6) (emphasis added). The point of the statute is to protect against the possibility that the property was sold at an artificially low price by virtue of the context in which it was sold, *i.e.*, foreclosure. The statute, therefore, requires the court to determine value based on a hypothetical price for the property in an arms-length transaction between self-interested parties. The statute expressly pegs the relevant date for this hypothetical price as the date of the trustee's sale—not some remote date in the past or future when "normal" economic conditions may exist. *Id.*

To be sure, no prudent, knowledgeable and self-interested buyer the hypothetical buyer described in RCW 61.24.005(6)—would pay more for a property on "the date of the trustee's sale" than current market conditions dictate. Washington Federal's appraisers recognized this, and they properly appraised the Sommerwood and King's Corner Properties using a "market value" methodology, which they defined as follows:

Market value means the most probable price that a property should bring in a competitive and open market under all conditions requisite to a fair sale, the buyer and seller, each acting prudently, and knowledgeably, and assuming the price is not affected by unique stimulus. Implicit in this definition is the consummation of a sale ... under conditions whereby

- 1. Buyer and seller are typically motivated
- 2. Both parties are well informed or well advised, and both acting in what they consider their own best interest
- 3. A reasonable time is allowed for exposure in the open market
- 4. Payment is made in terms of cash in U.S. dollars ...
- 5. The price reflects normal consideration for the property sold unaffected by special or creative financing ...

CP 390-91 (citing 12 CFR Part 34, Subpart C, 34.42). This definition practically mirrors the definition of "fair value" in RCW 61.24.005(6), and Washington Federal's expert appraiser testified that the two definitions are entirely consistent. CP 4 (Bryan Decl.), \P 2. Indeed, the McNaughtons' own expert conceded that the two definitions were largely the same; when pressed on how they differed, the only thing he could point to was the notion that "fair value" should be construed like "upset price," and value determined with an eye toward "normal" market conditions. CP 267-68, 276-79 (Gibbons Depo at 49-50, 58-61). As explained above, that notion finds no support in the text of the statute or any other authority.

Thus, even putting aside the relevant burdens of proof, there is no genuine issue of material fact on "fair value." The Sommerwood and King's Corner Properties were appraised shortly before foreclosure at a value of \$5,045,000. CP 368 (Bryan Decl.), ¶ 3. That valuation satisfied the definition of "fair value" in RCW 61.24.005(6), and was properly based on current market conditions—not "normal" market conditions. The properties' value did not change between the date of the appraisal and the date of trustee's sale. *Id.*, ¶ 4. Thus, the \$6 million Washington Federal paid for the properties was nearly a \$1 million more than the properties' "fair value." The post-foreclosure appraisal of the properties (\$5,100,000), subsequent purchase offers (between \$3,858,260 and

\$5,250,000) and re-sale price (\$4,000,000 for Sommerwood) all confirm that the "fair value" of the properties on the date of the trustee's sale was far less than \$6 million. *Id.*, ¶ 5; CP 692 (McKenzie Decl.), ¶¶ 12, 13.

Finally, even if—implausibly—the definition of "fair value" under RCW 61.24.005(6) did require the trial court to ignore current market conditions, it still properly granted summary judgment. It is undisputed the McNaughtons presented no evidence whatsoever regarding the value of the properties under "normal" market conditions, whatever that means, much less that this supposed fair value exceeded the \$6 million sale price. When the McNaughtons asked for a CR 56(f) continuance, they told the court that "fair value … is an issue that requires specific knowledge and expertise." CP 1022. The McNaughtons got their continuance, yet when deposed months later, their expert, Gibbons, candidly admitted:

- Q. Are you able to state at this time that it is probable that the \$6 million credit bid at the foreclosure sale was greater than the fair value of the property in September of 2009?
- A. Again, I don't know until I've done the work.

CP 319 (Gibbons Depo at 101). As noted, Gibbons never did the work; never appraised the properties; never gave an opinion on "fair value." A nonmoving party may not defeat summary judgment with speculation or argumentative assertions that unresolved factual issues remain. *Seven Gables v. MGM/UA Entm't*, 106 Wn.2d 1, 13, 721 P.2d 1 (1986). But that is all there is. Washington Federal's evidence of "fair value" is the *only* evidence of value in the record. Regardless of how "fair value" is defined, the McNaughtons failed to raise a genuine issue of material fact.

2. The "Fair Value" Of The Property Does Not Include The Value Of The Sewer Facilities And/Or Latecomers' Fees, And, Even If It Does, The McNaughtons Will Receive A Set-Off In The Amount Of That Value.

This Court must likewise reject the McNaughtons' argument that Washington Federal's appraisal was flawed because it did not include the value of the sewer facilities on the Sommerwood Property. Opening Br. at 11-15, 28-29. There is no dispute that Washington Federal's appraisal did not value the facilities or related right to the "latecomers' fees." *See* CP 381. But as discussed below, the "fair value" of the Sommerwood Property, however defined, cannot include the value of sewer facilities and/or latecomers' fees given the McNaughtons' position (and judgment) in the Latecomers' Lawsuit and, in any event, the issue is moot given the trial court's ruling that the McNaughtons are entitled to a set-off in the amount of any latecomers' fees Washington Federal receives in the future.

To begin with, the McNaughtons' myopic focus on the value of the actual, physical, sewer facilities built on the Sommerwood Property is a red herring. It is undisputed that the McNaughtons (or, more accurately, their company TMG) purported to convey the sewer facilities to the Silver Lake Water & Sewer District by bill of sale in February 2009—more than six months *before* the September 2009 trustee's sale. CP 42 (McNaughton Decl.), ¶ 15. At that point, according to the McNaughtons, the facilities belonged to the district and were no longer part of the property. Thus, not only was it appropriate to exclude the value of the facilities from the price paid at the trustee's sale, it is necessarily irrelevant to a "fair value" determination "as of the date of the trustee's sale." RCW 61.24.005(6). The only value that matters—as the McNaughtons recognized below (CP 1025-26; CP 1011 (Gibbons Decl.), ¶ 5(c)), but conspicuously ignore on appeal—is the value of the right to receive future latecomers' fees, which TMG acquired a proceeds when it transferred the facilities to the district.

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